Statement of Heritage Impact

Modification: Minor extension of existing rear deck

Bungania

Type and Name of Item: Residential Cottage, “Bungania”.

(Also known as “Bungonia”)

Listing Number: 2270017 Pittwater LEP 2014
Address: 77 Myola Road Newport NSW 2106
LGA: Pittwater, Lot 1 DP 538888
Background

A heritage report was submitted to council as part of DA N0390/11, which related to
additions and alterations to the stone cottage known as Bungania. A copy of that report, in
which the broad heritage significance of the place is described on pages 17 — 18, is attached
at Appendix 1. (Note that this original report was prepared by the present owners of
Bungania, residents of Newport for over 40 years, with guidance and advice on matters of
heritage from William Ashton, B.Arch.,UNSW.)

More recently, a statement of heritage impact of a proposed secondary dwelling at 77
Myola Road (DA 2018/0449) also references the heritage report cited above. A summary of
the description of the site, its current use and its historical, social, aesthetic and technical
significance of Bungania, (based on NSW Heritage Council Policy No 2 guidelines), is as
follows:



Bungania - Description

The stone and corrugated iron roofed cottage is sited just below the ridge on Bungan Head,
and is screened from view, being some 70 metres from the street. As the heritage report
referred to above states, the house itself is set into a cutting below the ridge. It was built to
consciously avoid the southerly winds, and could almost be said to hug the downward slope.
The roof itself is the only part of the house that protrudes above the ridgeline. For a further
description of the genesis of the cottage, see the accompanying report pages 14-17

Current use of Bungania

The cottage was uninhabitable when the current owners purchased Bungania. Basic services
had to be replaced and some rationale and definition needed to be applied to the land.
Restoration has been taking place, with all services now connected to the main cottage from
the street. There has been some restoration of gardens and stone walls constructed which
has resulted in the amelioration of the slope and the increased usability of the block. The
work is ongoing and carried out as funds permit to result in a home for the current owners

Social significance:

There is much social relevance in the cottage and its evolution has much in the story of its
owner as a late 19th and early 20t century citizen and owner builder. Yewen’s story is about
the type of character who evolved in response to the conditions prevailing at that time.
Hard working and aspirational and perhaps exceptional in that he was in many ways a
rounded person with interests in politics, the arts and literature. We can say then that
Bungania primarily has a modest to high, local social significance.

Historical significance:

The site provides an understanding of the nature of the development of the early 1900’s
northern beaches area of Sydney. Refer to the original report describing phase Il of this
development referred to as “The influence of Real Estate Ventures, a resort for the
Wealthy” (page 6). Bungania has a modest significance in terms of the natural and cultural
history of the local area.

Aesthetic significance:

There was the desire to create something of aesthetic value in building the rustic cottage,
even though a high level of sophistication was not reached due to the harsh circumstances
under which the home was built. However, the beauty of the area, and the Yewen family’s
embrace of their surroundings, the natural aesthetic of the place and the rusticity of the
cottage suggests a modest significance in this regard.

Technical significance:

There is also a modest technical significance in the way Yewen created Bungania, in his
eccentric DIY approach, in his personal monumental effort in hewing stone from the rock
face on site, driven by his fierce will to succeed.



Proposal to extend the rear deck of Bungania cottage

As explained in the Statement of Environmental Effects, the installation of a 5,000 litre
detention tank at the rear of Bungania, due to the requirements of DA 2018/0449, has
resulted in a visual aberration on Bungania’s north eastern side.

In this proposal, the heritage impact of extending an adjacent concrete deck by
approximately 8 square metres to cover the new water tank is explained.

The existing deck

Because Bungania was built in an organic, DIY fashion, the rock shelf on the north eastern
side of the cottage presented an ideal place to create an outdoor space. With the rock shelf
as a base, approximately 21 square metres of concrete was laid along with some additional
stonework using existing stone on site. This stonework forms a garden behind the deck.

An informal, non-load bearing stone rockery was built up against the bedrock beneath the
concrete platform using irregular rock pieces, no doubt emanating from the building of the
cottage itself. The present plan envisages re-instating this rockery to the point where the
detention tank is installed.

This will be an important linking element in the deck design, with the remainder of the
structure fitting seamlessly into the rear outline of the cottage without in any sense
dominating it.

Since we have no documentation (if indeed there was any) as to the railing of the existing
deck, a railing appropriate and sympathetic to the overall character and quality of Bungania
cottage is proposed.

Heritage impact of the new deck

The aim of the design of the new deck is not to detract from or alter the character, style or
significance of Bungania. Even though this is a rear area of the site, it is essential that the
new work sits lightly and comfortably with the complete existing structure. Of course this
will be discerned as an addition, but by blending materials, colours and design, it is intended
that Bungania would be enhanced as a living heritage item, and that its significance would
remain intact.

A strong integrating element will be the re-instated rockery. The new timber component of
the deck will sit just above the rockery and will be visible when you round the north-west
corner of the building as you make your way towards the rear of the house.



Underneath the deck, facing directly north and east, there will be broad paling fence slating
to integrate with the existing adjacent fencing. The railing will echo prior, older styles but
will still be identified as current.

It is hoped that with these elements in place, Bungania will gain a new amenity for quiet
enjoyment by its occupants. The position of the deck is surrounded by trees and foliage so
this will be a private place for contemplation

But above all, it is intended that the significance Bungania will be protected and its curtilage
complemented by this proposal.
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Introduction

“Bungania”

77 Myola Road Newport

This history has been prepared by the present owners of Bungania, residents of Newport for
37 years, with guidance and advice on matters of heritage from William Ashton, B.Arch.,
UNSW. Interviews with residents who have been connected with Bungania over the years
have been helpful in providing a local perspective. Recorded in 1997, the following Newport
people took part in the interviews:

1. Patricia Smith, born 1916, (mother of previous owner Wendy Bale who was the
granddaughter of the original owner and builder).

2. Don and Hazel Lovering, longterm residents of Newport, friends of the Yewen family.
Don’s father was Horace Lovering, a wealthy landowner near Bungania.

3. Jessie Aldridge, descendant of Robert Porter who, in 1884, was given the contract
for repair of roads from Narrabeen to Palm Beach. She lived in Newport from 1918
to 1996

Wherever possible, use has been made of local sources as follows:

1. Maureen Smith, librarian. Local Studies, Manly Library
2. Local history librarian. Dee Why Library
3. Virginia Macleod, Local History Resource Unit, Nelson Heather Centre, Warriewood

4. Family photographs, personal research and documents by Christopher Britton, great
grandson of the first owner, Alfred Yewen

Bungania was identified in the Heritage Study prepared by McDonald McPhee Pty Ltd Craig
Burton in 1989 as a "rambling single storey house, weatherboard and iron roof, being of
local heritage significance with high associations of cultural significance with regard to Phase
11 (1880-1920) defined as ‘The Influence of the Real Estate Ventures - a resort for the
wealthy’ (p.20. Vol 1).



Published References

N

The Newport Story by Guy Jennings, 1987

2. Barrenjoey Peninsula & Pittwater Heritage Study, Vols 1 and 3, by McDonald
McPhee Pty Ltd and Craig Burton, 1989

3. Report on the Heritage Significance of 'The Eyrie" at 32 Bungan Head Road,
Newport by Penelope Pike and Robert Moore for Pittwater Council 1995

4. Dee Why to Barrenjoey and Pittwater by Charles Swancott, 1967

5. Pittwater Paradise by Joan Lawrence 1994

6. Sydney’s Century: a history by Peter Spearritt 1999

7. Pictorial Memories: Manly to Palm Beach by Alan Sharpe 1993 & 1998

8. Land Titles Office for a history of the ownership of the property



General Historical Perspective

In this generalised evaluation the periods used here refer to those defined in the Heritage
Study by McDonald et al as follows:

Phase 1 - Settlement and Consolidation, 1788 — 1880

Governor Arthur Phillip landed at Manly on 21 January 1788 and later that year sighted and
named Pittwater (in honour of William Pitt the English Prime Minister) during his continued
efforts to find suitable land for cultivation as the community were in danger of starving.
During one expedition in August 1788 Phillip camped in present day Warriewood, known in
early times as Sheep Station Hill. The following day he travelled further north to camp, and
climbed a nearby hill, most probably Bushrangers Hill, which afforded a view of Pittwater.
(Jennings p. 9)

In 1814 Surveyor Meehan surveyed a farm of 700 acres for Robert Campbell, in the area of
Mona Vale which included half of Newport, ending at a line near Gladstone Street with
adjoining grants to John Farrell (60 acres granted in 1843) and Martin Burke (50 acres
granted in 1833). Campbell was granted his 700 acres in August 1819.

Jennings states that "by 1841 the whole area was well known and very desirable" for in 1832
the NSW Calendar and General Post Office Directory described Newport as "equal to any
lake scenery: there are many romantic spots with good land on its banks, which only require
suitable inhabitants to resemble Arcadia” (Jennings P. 10)

The area evolved. McDonald comments:

"the pioneering quality of the settlement at Pittwater was gradually replaced by a growing
sense of community as the tiny settlements began to consolidate the gains of the first half of
the century”.

However, it was sparsely settled, difficult to reach and an object of curiosity by outsiders.
They were viewed with equal suspicion by the inhabitants, as withessed by the 1867
Handbook of Sydney, which stated:

"A clergyman penetrating into the district a few years ago found many grown up people
who had never visited the city and are, in a measure, uncivilised" (Quoted by Swancott)



Prior to 1880, Swancott observes that "Pittwater was undisturbed by and aloof from
influences of the metropolis" (p.103). Nevertheless, there was a boarding house built by
Jeannerett which started in a modest way. Later the family began running steamers to
Windsor in 1879.

And so Newport became the main traffic avenue to Barrenjoey, Brisbane Waters and the
Tuggerah Lakes from a newly constructed pier in Newport on the Pittwater side. Four
steamers a week arrived with passengers and cargo, particularly shell lime and firewood,
along with the north coast mail. (Swancott p 103).

Travel by land became possible when Barrenjoey Road and Pittwater Road from Mona Vale
to Church Point and Newport were surveyed in 1877. (Gledhill quoted by McDonald p.25)

Phase 11 - The Influence of the Real Estate Ventures, a resort for the wealthy, 1880-
1920

The growing attention and activity by real estate agents reflected both the interest in the area
and the economic fluctuations of the time. The 1880 boom in land prices and the subsequent
loss of value during the 1890s depression were evident in Newport. But by 1900 land
subdivision and speculation were rife, with many estates offered between Mona Vale and
Avalon. Plots could be obtained on five pounds deposit and 6% interest.

The beginning of the twentieth century heralded a new era of one day or weekend tourism.
Visitors arrived for picnics or stayed for short periods at a boarding house. Only the wealthy
could afford the luxury of that newly acquired Australian status symbol: "the weekender" - a
secondary home for holidays and investment (McDonald p.29). Between 1914 and 1920 the
less well off purchased small fibro cottages near the tram terminus at Narrabeen (Pike and
Moore p. 5)

Newport also became popular, along with other coastal communities when, in the first
decade of the century, the prohibition of daylight bathing was relaxed and the health giving
properties of the ocean outweighed the sea’s connotations of danger and immorality. A sales
brochure of the time (1911-12, A Rickard & Co, Auctioneers & Realty specialists, quoted by
McDonald p.31) reflected these new attributes, claiming their subdivision "one of the finest
weekend estates ever offered in Sydney - a property well worth investigation by every man
and woman who enjoys boating, fishing and bathing at their best".

In the 1880s the old weatherboard Newport Hotel was kept by William Boulton whose family
ran coaches to Manly, carried the mail, and owned the one and only bullock team in the
district (Swancott p. 104). The land was sold from the Jeanneretts to the Boultons in
September 1887 but the building was replaced by a brick design in 1919 by the new owners,
Resch's Ltd. Close by, Minnie Scott ran a successful boarding house from 1901-1914,
catering for the growing visitors until war was declared.



The growth of land purchase and visitors could also be attributed to the "Universal Saturday
Half Holiday" which gave workers more leisure, referred to in another real estate brochure of
the time which stated:

"The demand for weekend lots by the water is growing wonderfully. It, the enforcing of the
universal Saturday Half Holiday in Sydney, is going to make this the greatest 'weekend year’
the city has ever known" (A Rickard & Co. Auctioneers and Realty Specialists, Church
Point).

But of actual residents there were few. By 1905, Newport's population had barely reached
100 souls. (Joan Lawrence, "Pittwater Paradise", p.48).

Phase 111- Holiday and Recreation, 1920-1950

The post war housing boom and desire for owning one's own home can be seen in
Warringah in real estate activity in the twenties. Speamtt, in his study "Sydney Since the
Twenties", states "Warringah had more subdivided land than occupied land thanks to real
estate speculators” (McDonald p.33). Quick profits were the order of the day and developers
had no responsibility for the provision of utility services, roads or kerb and guttering
(Spearritt p.46).

Newport saw rapid development in the early 20's in the beach area, which outstripped the
development on the shores of Pittwater for the first time, but still only 60% of the houses
were occupied during the week (Alan Sharp, "Pictorial Memories - Manly to Palm Beach, p.
108)

The Depression changed this situation. Land ceased to be desirable speculation although
the peninsula slowly became "a broader social spectrum holiday area” (McDonald, p.34) due
to the electric tram service and improved bus services. In 1938 the Palm Beach/Wynyard
bus service allowed direct access to the city. (McDonald p.36). Electric light came to
Newport in 1930 but progress was slow due to the financial downturn of the period (Sharp
P.8).

The growing permanent population in the 30s required the establishment of churches, an
automatic telephone exchange, more businesses and recreational facilities. The Newport
Bowling Club was formed in 1938; the Newport Surf Club was built in 1933; The Royal Motor
Yacht Club's clubhouse opened in 1928 and the Royal Prince Alfred Yacht Club's clubhouse
and slipway were built in 1937, although the club itself had its origins some 70 years earlier
(Jennings, pp 78-83)

Phase IV - A Commuter Suburb - Exclusivity, 1950 onwards

"The complete suburbanisation of the district and its role as a dormitory suburb of Sydney ...
largely due to the improved transportation system" occurred during this phase of
development. (McDonald, pp 37). The post war economic boom and the resulting full
employment allowed many to realise the dream of owning their own home. (T. Kass,



"Cheaper Than Rent: Aspects of the Growth of Owner-Occupation in Sydney 1911-1966"
quoted by McDonald, p.38). Newport's population had increased to 1200 by 1949, and in
seasonal periods escalated to 3000.

Yet the area was still perceived to be a place for the wealthy. Spearritt made the distinction:
" The rich tend to go to the northern beaches -Newport, Avalon, Whale Beach ... Palm
Beach, while the workers throng the yellow sands of Bondi, Coogee and Maroubra; but you
cannot tell a man's income in a pair of swimming trunks and the Pacific surf is a mighty
leveller".

The growth in population increased the demand and expansion of local industry, the retail
sector and urban utilities such as schools, churches, post offices and leisure activities along
with rapid development. "Homes were built in every type of allotment as well as a large
number of home units on the beach front and nearby areas” (McDonald, p.40), in such large
numbers that the then Warringah Shire Council were extremely concerned for the
environment and the heritage of the peninsula.



Alfred Gregory Yewen

Yewen was something of an eccentric character, to say the least. Born in England in 1867,
he suffered from tuberculosis and arrived in Australia in 1888 “penniless and with the
remnant of a lung” at the age of 21. He held strong socialist views, having been in the
company of William Morris and George Bernard Shaw and a member of the Fabian Society
before reaching Australia

Because of his physical condition, Yewen settled in Queensland and was soon active in the
Australian Socialist League, working as a journalist on the Brisbane “Boomerang “and
William Lane’s Worker.

Later in Sydney, Yewen linked up with Billy Hughes, editing a publication called the New
Order, a diverse left wing rag in opposition to Lane’s Worker.

Hughes observed that Yewen “was never known to smile. He never went out. He had no
recreations and only one shirt”(Edmund Campion, Australian Dictionary of Biography,
appendix 4)

In the 1894 election, Hughes gained a seat but in Yewen’s eyes, failed to live up to the
socialist ideology they had espoused in the New Order.

Yewen, by nature a rigid, uncompromising and obsessional character, developed a lively
hatred of Hughes from this time, screaming out “you rat” whenever Yewen encountered
Hughes in the street. It seems Yewen was so disillusioned, he renounced his strict socialist
views and turned his attention to matters relating to the land.

He became sub editor on the Stock and Station Journal, and in 1899 obtained a stock and
farm reporting job on the Sydney Morning Herald.

Obviously not without drive and ambition, he published Yewen’s Directory of the Land
Owners of NSW in 1900 and later in 1901 he launched his own periodical, AAA. All About
Australians. He remained with the Sydney Morning Herald until his retirement in 1921.



Such was the improvement in his material position and aspirations that on 22 March 1906,
he purchased 15 acres at Bungan from a large subdivision issued by the Mona Vale Land
Company.

There is little doubt that the trappings of success, his more mature years, his more
prestigious employment, surrounded by the more gracious homes of Mosman (The Sands
Directory records his residence in 1904 as Shadforth Street Mosman) had their effect on
Yewen'’s outlook, a very real change from his previous asceticism. This is not to say,
however, that Yewen was particularly wealthy when he started building the cottage, as his
modus operandi in its construction clearly shows. It was not until much later that Hughes,
now alienated from Yewen, was to bitterly remark: “/ lived to see him sleek and opulent,
arrayed in the favourite livery of capitalism — bell topper and frock coat and stiff collar”



The Yewen family at Bungania. Alfred is seated on the right.

Yet this is not quite the impression we get of the man at Bungania. In this rugged but quite
beautiful environment, Yewen, drawing on skills acquired during a short period when he
worked as a stone mason in England, began building the stone cottage "by his own unaided
labour".

Reports reveal that Yewen would travel "by pushbike" to Newport at weekends to work on
Bungania. His obituary, published in the Sydney Morning Herald, dated 13 June 1923,
(Appendix 7) quotes:



Sometimes a whole Saturday and Sunday would be occupied
by the shifting of a single huge stone. His friends said that he

must have the heart of a lion. Still, little by little, hindered sometimes
by sickness, sometimes by foul weather, he pegged away, and

and eventually starting with an angle in the living rock of an old
quarry for the first two walls of his sitting room, he laid the
foundations of a house that was destined to be as rugged externally,

and internally as hospitable as its owner.

Either because of a lack of skill, a lack of finance in these early years, or a sense that this
place should be part of the landscape — the house does fit into the side of the hill — the
house assumed a naturalistic, rustic and homely style.

However, combined with this rustic quality, there are certain architectural elements of an
English nature to be found in Bungania. Its high pitched cathedral ceilings and fine multi
paned windows, of which there are only a few remaining, testify to Yewen’s ambition for
more refinement and more elegance in the finished structure.

We conclude Bungania was not intended to be a humble rustic dwelling inhabited by a
recluse but an imaginative expression of Yewen'’s personality. The contrast between Hughes
quoted description above of a restrained and constricted character in the early days with the
obituary quoted above ..."as rugged externally, and internally as hospitable as its owner”
sums up the changes in Yewen over the years.

The construction of Bungania was an all-consuming passion but just how much of the house
was built by Yewen is impossible to say. . The image of this wiry individual, not always in
the best of health, riding his bike from Mosman to Newport to work on his house, cutting
large blocks of stone from the site that he lifted into place often unaided, is indeed
extraordinary. No particular builder or person has been identified who may have helped
Yewen in his travail.

It appears Yewen had taken up residence by 1906. The Sands Directory of that year lists
A.G. Yewen as the editor of the Yewen Publishing Company, Mosman, with his private
address at Newport (appendix 6).

Over the years more rooms were constructed and followed the contours of the hill, from
stone quarried on the site so that the house "nestles into the quarry face" having a “
vernacular quality” (Appendix 3, National Trust report on Bungania, 1978). Notwithstanding
this “vernacular quality” the house is quite church like with gothic style ceilings and
fireplaces. . The whole structure has a definite serendipity about it, a quirky individualism not
following any particular architectural style.

Mention should be made of the siting of the house. The National Trust visitors remarked on
the "magnificent views of Newport and Bilgola beaches, and of Pittwater ... to the north,



while to the south is the whole panorama of Sydney's northern beaches" (Appendix 3).
Equally, back in 1923, the writer of Yewen's obituary noted:

"the landscape northwards from the adjacent veranda is probably the most extensive and
beautiful to be obtained from any headland on the coast of New South Wales”. (SMH
Obituary, appendix 7)

It would seem that many early local people were almost self sufficient, with chickens, fishing,
vegetable gardens and "a nearby orchard and the family cow which allowed home made
cheese, butter and ice cream” (C. Britton, school project, 1985). Apparently, during a meat
strike in 1917, the herds of wild goats which used to roam the area were almost eliminated
when visitors hunted them (The Manly Daily, 13.12.73)

The home contained a treasure trove of "a particularly fine collection of oils and water
colours from the studios of the best-known local artists”" (SMH Obituary appendix 7). Indeed,
one famous painting, "The Westwind" by Sydney Long, was acquired when Yewen obtained
it from Adolph Albers in return, local folklore has it, for a parcel of land, where Bungan Castle
was built in 1919 (Jennings. p.25)

Reading and taking tea at Bungania, circa 1920

Yewen's connections with "artists, writers, philosophers and political

thinkers" made Bungania an intellectual hideaway where many famous people such as
Norman Lindsay, Syd Long, Christopher Brennan, Le Gay Brereton, visited and painted (C.



Britton, school project). Musical afternoons featured the new "sound invention", an old wind
up gramophone, where neighbours and friends were invited to listen to classical music on 78
LP records.

Collections of letters, documents, prints and photographs were recommended by the
National Trust for cataloguing and documentation, but were rejected by the Mitchell Library
when offered by Wendy Bale in 1988 (Manly Daily, Northsider, 12 November 1988).

Description of the house:

Siting

Known as Bungania, the house is sited just below the ridge on Bungan Head, and is
screened from view, being sited some 70 metres from the street. The house is set into the
rock face on the northern side of the ridge. The cutting accommodating the house is quite
deep, exposing some 2.5 metres of rock face. It has been suggested that this cutting could
have been an early district quarry, though just as easily could have been a naturally formed
lower platform just below the ridge. The south side of the house is effectively 2 metres below
natural ground level as a result of building into this deep cutting. Unfortunately, the raw face
of the cutting is an internal wall, without any drainage for these southern walls whatsoever.

There is little doubt that the stone for the house came from the site, some of the stones
being quite large, requiring very little transport to their final destination in the designated
walls.

The house is very protected from the southerly winds which on this part of the headland can
be quite fierce. The roof itself is the only part of the house that protrudes above the
ridgeline. In its position, the house originally enjoyed extensive views to the north to
Newport Beach and the northern headland and to the west, across to Pittwater. Those
views are now largely obscured by modern day vegetation.



General form of the house

As the accompanying sketches in Appendix 1 show, individual rooms have been
added to the primary or central room to the east, west and north. The rooms appear
to have been added almost randomly. There is no hall as such. The small room on
the east of the house is reached through a bedroom and the dining room. To the
north, the room known as “the dungeon” has been built adjacent to a rocky outcrop
to the west. Access to this lower room is via a timber staircase off the principal living
area.

There are two fireplaces in the cottage, one positioned in “the dungeon”, the other a
dual fireplace serving the dining room and the main bedroom.

To the northwest, the veranda that features in early photographs has been enclosed,
linked into the dining room and the principal living area. From this room there is an
opening onto a patio like area supported by a rough stone wall.

Construction of Bungania

We have no surviving drawings of the plan of the house, There simply were none. The place
grew organically, subject to Alfred’s physical capacity and whimsy. Without plans or any
other descriptive account of the construction of the house, most of our knowledge comes
from the existing building

The only comment we have is by Ms Pat Smith in an interview in 1997, then in her 80’s, in
which she said that once the raw rock face to the south had been squared off, the first room
completed was the living room, known as “the refectory” The lower bedroom, known as the
"Dungeon" was next to be built followed by the dining room, known as the "Cathedral"(high
ceiling) room, again hewn from the living face of the escarpment.

As for the entrance, the low stone wall on the west side indicates the perimeter outline to the
porch/veranda and entrance The exact form of this is hard to discern today since some
additions were made in later years. To the north of the entrance and west of “the dungeon”
there was a water tank, partially masking this lower bedroom itself when viewed from the
west entrance. Leading to the front door, early photographs show a charming and inviting
trellis made of natural timber logs as supports possibly covered with climbing roses. There is
an old climbing rose still to be found near the entrance. Two Strelitzias were planted on
either side of this pagoda trellis and are still there today, now grown so large there is barely
room between them.



The trellis entrance to Bungania on the west side.

One way or another, the house assumed a fairly discordant form. Nevertheless, Alfred had
incorporated touches of English refinement - the gothic high pitched ceilings, the fine paned
windows and much later, the walkway covered by creeper covered trellis leading to the
entrance. All these elements show Yewen was struggling for a degree of graciousness in
the finished cottage.

When Alfred began construction there was no electricity, no skilled labour and very poor
availability of materials. This was definitely not an undertaking for the faint hearted. Of
course, where some desired materials were not available, any used building materials that
were to hand would do. Note that in the room known as the refectory, (the living room) the
windows facing the sunroom to the north might have been of greater quality if finance had
permitted, but very plain second hand windows had to suffice.

The house that emerged certainly had its own idiosyncratic quality — gothic Englishness
mixed with down to earth rusticity resulting in a quirky, curious sort of place. Unfortunately, it
was rather badly planned and suffered from an early version of DIYism. Alfred may have
disguised these faults in construction with the art and eccentric trappings with which he
furnished his house, but basically this was not a fine house meticulously designed by an
architect and built by a first class builder. Note that the National Trust listing, invited in 1971
by Wendy Bales, Alfred Yewen’s granddaughter, was accepted not so much on the nature of
the building, but because of the artefacts the house contained.



A comparison with Napier Thompson’s nearby house, ‘The Eyrie’, is interesting at this point.
The assessment made of ‘The Eyrie’ by Mr Robert Moore and Ms Penny Pike shows us that
‘The Eyrie’ did not quite evolve in the manner of Bungania. We would have to say Bungania
was rather more naturalistic in style and much more subject to Alfred’s own version of doing
things his own way. It was simply a rougher and more amateur construction.

Early photos show that the land was not heavily wooded when Alfred became the owner. A
cursory wander over his new estate would have revealed the presence of strong southerly
winds at times and it is understandable that he decided to site his house in a tiny suntrap
facing north, protected from the South by the ridge of the headland some three metres
above. And perhaps, even though this was obviously a mistake, Alfred, by necessity,
realised he would save money using this location, because the rock face of the old quarry
site would serve as interior walls.

In similar fashion, “The Eyrie” shelters from south easterly winds just below the Bungan
Head ridge with magnificent views north over Newport Beach. However, “The Eyrie” stands
a little more tall than Bungania. Mr Yewen’s house is more burrow-like, as it nestles into the
side of the hill, tiering down a gentle slope with a number of small roof forms.

We could speculate that someone less eccentric, perhaps more wealthy and more part of
the everyday world at the time, might well have chosen a more commanding position on the
15 acres available.

A carving in an in situ sandstone boulder gracefully inscribed "71909" tells us that
construction was perhaps substantially complete five years after the Yewens puchased their
land.

Later History and changes to the house

Communications followed where people forged a new way of life. By 1914 the telephone had
arrived in Newport, bringing a connection with the outside world. Swancott (p.12) listed the
only four telephone subscribers in Newport at that time, one of which was “4 Bungania”.

The other three were “6 Hotel” Newport and Mrs Greig at “ 1 K. Kamp” Mr Kleemo,
Bushrangers Hill.

Yewen’s 15 acre holding, covering a generous area of Bungan Head right to the high water
mark, was largely intact until 1920, with only two blocks and the “Bungan Castle” land sold
before then. Boxing Day 1920 saw the sale of the “Bungan Head Estate” with the agent
touting “magnificent views and closeness to the beach”. The establishment of the estate
meant, however, that the curtilage of the original house was now reduced to less than one
acre. (Appendix 2)



The subdivision brought about the creation of Bungan Head Road and its extension, Little
Reef Parade, a name subsequently dropped as the whole street simply became known as
Bungan Head Rd.

Local knowledge has it that finally, in the 1960’s Stan’s neighbour, a Mr Palmer, suggested a
right of way and further encroachment on the last remaining Yewen land. Having obtained a
verbal agreement from Stan, Palmer then proceeded to install a concrete driveway and
concrete retaining walls along a new boundary that skirted the old cottage within a few
metres of its walls. It seems that most of this was done while Stan was away on holiday. It
had been easy for Palmer: he ran a concrete business.

The land now having been reduced to its present size, the house underwent a number of
temporary additions and makeshift repairs. The inherent fault of using the sheer rock face of
the hillside on the south side as inside walls meant the house was beset with damp and rot.
In bad weather, these walls became a series of small fountains, as water literally bled
through the rock from the ground above.

Later photographs show twin gables affixed to the front of the house where the veranda or
porch entrance once stood It is believed this timber framed front section was cobbled to the
west side of Bungania in the early 60’s for the purpose of providing a bathroom and porch
extension. An aluminium window was used for the bathroom to the west and cladding was
Hardy’s fibrous cement “Hardiplank”, a very common building material at the time. Due to
damp and neglect, this section became subject to rot and excessive dampness and has
since been removed.

The look and character of the house are best appreciated from the north, which is of course
the natural outlook for the place. There was an open veranda on this side that was covered
in by Stan Yewen some time before the second world war, thought to be about 1930.

Heritage significance of Bungania

The house itself and its manner of construction have heritage significance as testimony to
the spirit and improvisation of early settlers to Newport and the Northern Beaches during the
period from 1880 to 1920, described above as “Phase Il: The Influence of the Real Estate
Ventures, a resort for the Wealthy”

The depression of 1890, followed by active subdivision and sale of land in the
Newport/Pittwater area was a time of great difficulty followed by one of optimism and hope.
Alfred Yewen was an expression of that hope, the aspirational idealist, struggling under
extremely hard conditions, who longed for something better and responded to the natural
beauty of the headlands and beaches to Sydney’s north.



The house assumed a special place in Pittwater because of its location, its manner of
construction and the visitors Alfred attracted to Bungania. Alfred Yewen was not a hermit.
His view was holistic, encouraging friends and acquaintances from all walks of life but
especially artists, painters and political figures of the day. Alfred may well have seen
Bungania as a Utopian artists colony, perhaps along the lines of the artists camp headed by
Arthur Streeton and his followers of the Heidelberg school.

While Alfred Yewen was no doubt much more of an eccentric than many of his fellow
Pittwater settlers, there are many aspects of his journey that are typical.

There was the holiday aspect - to make a sheltered spot away from the city where you could
relax and holiday. There was the element of sustainability — that a house could be
constructed from surrounding materials. There was the determination to create something
worthwhile within limited means, against all odds, that was beautiful in itself and was in
harmony with nature.

We can conclude then that the story of Bungania says much about the way Newport
evolved at the turn of the century after the economy emerged from the depression of the
1890’s and about the way of life in the early part of the twentieth century.

Restoring Bungania

In its present configuration and manner of construction, the building would not be
suitable for modern habitation in itself. The problems created by building into the rock
face have already been noted. This present proposal to restore Bungania is not to
alter the footprint, to enlarge or to make any substantial alterations so that the
idiosyncratic and charming nature of the place is retained.

Due to the budget restrictions of the present owners, (similar to those that afflicted Alfred
Yewen!) the emphasis will be on the sympathetic restoration of the present structure as a
small one or two bedroom cottage. Detail of work to be carried out is as follows:

1 Restoration of the veranda over the west entrance. This should take the form of a
veranda or porch, but the exact original form this took is not known. In the interests
of carrying through the theme of gothic Englishness that pervades the house, a gable
will be constructed above the entrance.

2 The western stone wall and entrance has been substantially altered over the years
and it is proposed to reinstate an entrance that will open to the veranda and the
garden.

3 The tiny dressing room to the east of the main bedroom to become an ensuite with
shower by lowering the floor level approx 300mm (which in all probability was its
original level) and building a small dormer window (currently a skylight) on the north
side.

4 A simple kitchen is to be installed in the dining room. To enable the kitchen to link up
with the sunroom, it is proposed the opening between the sunroom and the kitchen
be enlarged.



Restoration Materials

Wherever possible, the rich texture of the stone surface of interior walls will remain exposed.
Since it is not possible to waterproof the natural rock faces that make up a few interior walls,
these walls will be provided with a drain at their base, with a simple stud wall sheeted in
painted tongue and grooved boarding standing proud of the wall. Measures will be taken to
ensure this drainage system is adequate in wet weather.

Ceilings will be clad in painted tongue and grooved boarding to reflect the ambiance and
style of the original building.

Window openings have in many cases been a curious sliding system on the inside of the
rock walls. This system was one of the more bizarre methods Mr Yewen used to affect a
window covering and have not stood the test of time. Nor would they provide the
weatherproofing needed. It is proposed that the stone window openings be squared up and
made to measure timber windows fitted, in the multi paned style of the few remaining
windows left on the site.

Treatment of the Grounds surrounding Bungania

Because of miscellaneous trees and vines have become overgrown between the house and
Myola Road, at a later date, when budget permits, there needs to be some clearing and
landscaping of this area. Then, the timbered covered walkway will be reinstated, with the two
strelitzias marking the entrance to the pergola trellis to be thinned out to resume their former
position and function as standard bearers .

The area on either side of the entrance trellis would be terraced, finished in gravel with
garden walls/ornamentation/shade trees etc.

Some terracing of the rest of the block is envisaged, with the north boundary being built up
by a low stone wall, although the gentle slope of the land will be retained. In some places a
further step back may also be necessary to gain further height for effective terracing.

The use of timbered walkways and grapevines over timber providing quiet restful spots - this
is the picture one imagines of days gone by at Bungania. The aim is to ensure that
Bungania, with all its foibles, remain intact as a living element of Pittwater history



Interviews with local people

INTERVIEW WITH PAT SMITH ON 19.11.97 IN THE PRESENCE OF HER GRANDSON,
CHRISTOPHER BRITTON

THE FAMILY

Patricia Smith is the mother ofWendy Bale (deceased) whose grandfather, Alfred Yewen,
purchased the land and built "Bungania" himself at the turn of the century. Wendy was very
proud of her heritage and at her instigation the house was listed with the National Trust in
1978 (Appendix 3)

Alfred married Alice, secretary to Sir Henry Parkes, and they had two sons, both born at
Bungania - Stan in 1901 and Roberts in 1903. Alfred was born in England and first settled in
Queensland where he was part of the developing Labour party. Alfred died in 1923, and due
to his connections with the Fabian Society, and political and influential contacts, had a long
obituary in the Sydney Morning Herald.

Stan married Eileen and they adopted Wendy, Stan inhabiting Bungania until shortly before
his death in 1984. Eileen was not a very good housekeeper and to assist her a lady was
employed to help her in the house, and look after the ailing Mrs Yewen (senior) whom Eileen
rejected. Stan contracted TB but never went to hospital, and with a healthy lifestyle he
became an excellent swimmer and sportsman and overcame the disease. Stan was a quiet
unassuming character who worried that the house did not conform to the council regulations
of the time and therefore did not oppose the driveway built without his permission by the
neighbour who had gained a right of way across the land. He returned to live at Bungania
when his mother was elderly and in poor health, and took up the occupation of driving the
local buses. Pat believes his routes were Manly to Palm Beach, Manly to Narrabeen, and
Manly to Chatswood.

THE LOCALITY

Patricia remembers first visiting Bungania in 1940, travelling by tram to Narrabeen, and then
by bus to Newport. She says it was still very rural with a cowshed and stables to the east of
Bungania, on top of the crest of the hill.

She explained that the outline of the old swimming pool, whose foundations

can be identified several metres south of the current pool at Newport beach, was in fact the
original pool built by Alfred for all to use. There was a goat track which ran down the hill from
Bungania leading directly to the pool, for the family's convenience.



The stone house in Melaleuca Street was also built by the Yewens for "Nana Piper" who was
Wendy's grandmother on Eileen's side possibly in the 1940's.

Pat also remembers Nipper Brennan, son of the poet Chrisopher Brennan, who lived in what
was known locally as the shell house in Oceana Crescent. Nipper was a character who
refused to bow to convention and fished and sold his produce at the Newport Arms to
survive.

BUNGANIA

Firstly Pat corrected us on the pronunciation of the home. It is pronounced "Bungania"
(probably one would assume in line with Alfred's English accent where "a" is often
pronounced "ar".

Pat was unsure of the exact date of Bungania's completion but believed it was completed
around about the time of the birth of Alfred and Alice's first son, Stan.

The first room constructed was the kitchen and then the lower room (known to the family as
"the dungeon" because it was so low down) which even in 1940 had the distinct crack it has
today, helped perhaps by the ficus growing over the exterior wall and into the room inside.
The sitting room was called the "Cathedral room" and the bedroom with the small dressing
room adjoining, was known as the attic and had a roller shutter door which operated
vertically where Stan and Roberts slept as children.

The roof was a metal one, which she believes was in place since the 1920's and painted
with green lead paint which was replaced by Ted Bale, Wendy's third husband in 1984.

Pat believes however, that there has been little change since 1900. The interior of the walls
of the cathedral room were covered with cement render to try to fix the damp problem but it
was never successful. Similarly the kitchen had damp problems, which they occasionally
tried to resolve with a retaining wall or guttering, although being part of the actual rock of the
hillside she thinks there will always be water present. After substantial rain the "Palmer
cascades" would appear which came down the steps to the west of the house and then
found their way into a gutter in the floor of the dungeon especially constructed to direct the
water down the hill. The sewer line was actually above the level of the dungeon so no sink
could be put there. The water pressure was always poor and Pat remembers Stan going to
the Mona Vale golf club for a round of golf and more importantly a shower afterwards!

She identified sea-grass matting was used on the floor of the top bedroom and the sunroom,
with square carpets on top. The interior of the house was crowded with lots of furniture and
pictures. 'The West Wind" by Sid Long came into the family when the subsequent owner and
builder of Bungan Castle bartered the painting for the land where the current castle stands.
Over the years paintings were sold for economic reasons. "The Swans" painted at Bungania
with Mrs Alice Yewen for Sid Long, was sold by Wendy. She rejected a large offer by an
unknown visitor from Melbourne in the early 80's - only to be advised later that she had in
fact rejected Holmes a Court who later acquired the painting from the Double Bay dealer
who purchased it from Wendy (at half the price).

As for wildlife Pat remembers a family of bandicoots who survived in the vicinity of 108
Bungan Head Road until she moved from the house several months ago. There were many



possums and very friendly magpies who would walk into the kitchen at Bungania and wait
near the fridge to be fed.

Stan had a cottage garden, and had flowers on different levels and also a thriving vegetable
garden. He also planted roses and daisies.

INTERVIEW WITH DON AND HAZEL LOVERING
ON 26.11.97

Don is a long-time resident of Newport, having "visited for three weeks in 1937 and stayed
ever since". At that stage he said there were only six houses in the immediate vicinity in
Newport, and one general store called Bulfins.

Don's father, Horace Lovering, was a farsighted businessman whose many business
interests included Newport's first open air theatre, built about 1948-49, a garage rented to
the Shaw brothers, a bakery at Palm Beach and a large block of land in Newport, north of
the Yewen estate, subsequently subdivided and called Lovering Place. At one stage Horace
even had to pay rates on Newport Reef, Don laughed and debated how he could use the
land!

Returning from the war Don lived in a rented property in Beaconsfield Street until his father's
house was available, at 39 Myola Road where he still lives today with his wife Hazel, a
former graduate of the Melbourne Conservatorium.

BUNGANIA AND STAN YEWEN

Don knew Stan Yewen in the late 40s and early 50s where he would often
partner Hazel or Don for a round of golf at the Mona Vale Golf Club.

Yewen was the 1927 club champion. They remember Stan as a very reserved
loner who rarely joined in the social events, apart from local golf

tournaments. Stan's wife was an invalid and when not driving the buses he

would be shopping and looking after the household.

Hazel rarely visited Bungania but on the few occasions she did she
remembers a very dark and dim interior, with a kitchen which had a sort of
cellar off it, very much in the old English style with no modem
conveniences. It was not the sort of place Hazel could ever imagine living
in. In fact Hazel always remembered her own grandmother's property in

rural Melbourne when thinking about Bungania.



INTERVIEW JESSIE ALDRIDGE ON 24.11.97

Jessie was born in 1918, attended Newport Primary School, and left school in 1933. Her
grandmother. Grandmother Porter, knew Alfred Yewen in the early days.

NEWPORT AND BUNGAN

She remembers a rural community where there were few stores and cows were often
bogged in the easement which ran from Newport Primary School to the beach. 38 The
Avenue was built after the First World War where she lived until recently. Initially in the street
there were only four families - the Stricklands, the Miles, the Perrys and her own family, the
Harvey s(Porters). People would chop their own wood, boil a copper, using "candle bark" to
get the fire going, and to a large extent you could be self-sufficient growing your own
vegetables, and keeping chooks and shooting rabbits before there was any question of
disease. She loved fishing and using only roe bait would accompany her grandfather to
Bungan for flathead, rainbow fish, whiting or leather jacket when they could go out in a boat
on the bay. On the rocks oysters and periwinkles were in great supply as were the delicious
and abundant blackberries which flourished right on the dunes at Bungan, which would be
collected by many visitors in Kerosene tins for baking pies.

She would visit Bushrangers Hill as a child to explore and climb the huge rocks to look out
to Manly. She vividly recalls the Phizackerley family who lived near Bungan and who
imported the first cars to Australia, and for whom her Uncle Stan did the repairs. He or his
neighbour the Thompsons had a "native" gardener who tended the land when the owners
were not in residence. The Brennans were also well known and Mrs Brennan was an
eccentric who would clamber out on to the rocks to fish for crayfish. There were few "native
bears™ towards Bungania, and the beach, they preferred the trees near the Avenue where it
was more densely forested.

Travel was time consuming and not very easy, as one had to take get to the tram in
Narrabeen which would either take you to Manly or to the Spit, where you would disembark,
walk across the bridge, and then get another tram into Sydney.

STAN YEWEN

Jessie remembers Stan being a quiet, thin man who never seemed that robust, possibly
suffering from diabetes. In the country town atmosphere of Newport in the 1920's and 30's
people kept to themselves, and everyone seemed equal, although the Yewens owned a lot
of land. She remembers Robert, Stan's brother, very distantly and feels he must have gone
into town, unlike Stan whose life focussed on Newport. Stan looked after his neurotic wife



who rarely left Bungania, and he was greatly admired for his patience. Stan loved cricket and
always joined in the local matches on the oval near the school.

Jessie has a memory of visiting the Yewens collecting for Empire Day and the family were
generous giving a shilling or even five shillings on occasions. At that time she recalls the
garden being quite beautiful with terraced gardens with many flowers including geraniums,
the large aloe vera type plants with red flowers and a wisteria bower.

The family had a horse and buggy and at least one cow on the property in the early days but
later on the Yewens had a car. Her most enduring memory of Stan is as a bus driver where
he knew most of the passengers and travelled the same routes.



Appendix 1

( of 2011 Report)

Sketch outline of Bungania
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Land Titles and Land Sales Brochures
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Appendix 3

National Trust Assessment and Listing
15 December 1978



VISIT TO BUNGANIA, 77 MYOLA ROAD - NEWPORT
FRIDAY, 15/12/78 AT 11.00P.M.

The Director, Migs C. Jessop, Mr M. Kelly and Miss S. Collingridge-

The purpose of the visit was to inspect Bungania and to examine documents,
books and paintings that had belonged to A.G. Yewen, & member of the
Fabian Society, which were still houses in the building which Yewen

had built for himself ¢.1910 and still in the possession of the family.

The siting of Bungania on Bungan Head is unique. Magnificent views of
Newport and Bilgola Beaches, and of Pittwater are to the north while

to the south 1is the whole panorama of Sydney's northern beaches. The
approach to the house is up 2 long driveway and the house itself, made

of stone quarried on site, now nestles into the quarry face. The

feeling of Bungania is of a world totally removed from the suburbia
surrounding 1it. Mr Yewen had spent 2 chort time as an asphalt stonemason.
The building has a totally vernacular quality.

A separate cottage contains books, documents and photographs rescued

from the main house by Mrs Vendy Britton, Yewen's granddaughter. They
include works and letters of C.J. Brennan, Le Gay Breretoll, William Morris,
Bernard Shaw and Karl Marx. Mrs Britton's mother had been

Sir Henry parkes' Secretary and there are documents relating to

Parkes.

The house itself is a primitive example of a stoneé building, totally
built by the owner. It comsists of five main rooms with cellar and
closed—in terrace. The walls of the sitting room were hung with
paintings by Long, Piguenit, Minns, Tristam and others. Some of

these paintings had been cleaned by Darcy Fordham, & family friend.
Stairs led to two other rooms which alsc had paintings on the walls

as well as a large collection of 78 records. In each room there were
numerous pooks which need a careful examination to establish their
importance. particularly charming was some furniture that had been
made for Yewen and it showed 2a great similarity to Wunderlich patterns.

One of the rooms was not inspected.
The place does not lend itself for large scale or frequent inspections.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

What would be the future of this house and this collection is an enormous
problem. The immediate concern is that a full documentation of its
contents takes place as soon as possible. This would involve transcribing
letters, etc. as well as photographing them, cataloguing the books and
paintings.

1t was felt that the building was worthy of a RECORDED listing owing to
the quality of its site, its contents, and its history.
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Australian Dictionary of Biography
Alfred Gregory Yewen 1867 — 1923
By Edmund Campion



AUSTRALIAN DICTIONARY OF BIOGRAPHY - ONLINE EDITION

Yewen, Alfred Gregory (1867 - 1923)

YEWEN, ALFRED GREGORY (1867-1923), journalist, was born on 16 May 1867 at Croydon,
Surrey, England, fourth son of Charles Yewen, a canteen-keeper and former army bandmaster,
and his wife Sarah Margaret, née Roberts. Gregory worked as a stonemason and gained his real
education from the nascent socialist movement. In 1884 he helped William Morris to form the
Socialist League, London. Morris presented him with the 1887 English translation of Karl Marx's
Capital which he read thoroughly and kept all his life.

His lungs affected by his work, in 1888 Yewen migrated to Queensland, bringing an introduction
from Morris to William Lane. Moving to Sydney, he became active in the Australian Socialist
League with W. H. T. McNamara. Yewen's A Refutation of the Single Tax Theory (1890) was a
historical critique of Henry George whom he derided for apparent ignorance of Marx. Returning
north in 1891, Yewen worked on Gresley Lukin's Boomerang and joined Lane's Worker. When
he left in September 1893, the Worker eulogized him as 'sternly uncompromising’ and 'a most
caustic and severe critic'.

Back in Sydney, Yewen threw in his lot with W. M. Hughes. Between April and September 1894
they collaborated on the New Order, which Yewen edited. 'He ruled with a rod of iron’, Hughes
recalled. 'He was never known to smile. He never went out. He had no recreations and only one
shirt'. Yewen's paper was a weekly, eight-page political scattergun and featured a collection of
paragraphs alongside topical verse by W. A. Holman. Anti-Semitic, racist and republican, it
pilloried Lane as the dictator of 'New Australia'.

Labor failed to win the 1894 election, although Hughes gained a seat. Soon, however, Yewen
detected the new member backsliding on socialism and was so sickened that he abandoned
politics. Thereafter, when they met in the street, Yewen would shout, 'Hughes, you rat!" Hughes
retaliated by writing of him: 'l lived to see him sleek and opulent, arrayed in the favourite livery of
capitalism—bell-topper and frock-coat and stiff collar'.

Sometime sub-editor on the Stock and Station Journal, in 1899 Yewen took a reporter's job on
the Sydney Morning Herald where for fourteen years he covered the fat stock sales at
Homebush. He wrote a weekly article cn wool for the Herald and was the major contributor to
Dalgety's Review. In 1900 he published Yewen's Directory of the Landholiders of New South
Wales. With Francis Gellatly, in 1901 he founded the periodical, A.A.A., All About Australians.

At North Sydney on 8 November 1900 Yewen married with Presbyterian forms Margaret Alice
Scott, a former secretary of Sir Henry Parkes; Holman was a witness. On a wide headland at
Newport, north of Sydney, Yewen built with his own hands a stone house, Bungania. Unceiled
roofs, open fires and split levels, complemented by coastal views, cows and an orchard, gave it
an odd charm. Spending weekends there, Lane's brother Ernest noticed that Yewen never spoke
about socialism. Survived by his wife and two sons, Yewen died at his home on 11 June 1923 of
tuberculosis and was buried in the Anglican section of Manly cemetery.

Select Bibliography

E. H.Lane, Dawn to Dusk (Brisb, 1939); W. M. Hughes, Crusts and Crusades (Syd, 1947): B.
James, Anarchism and State Violence in Sydney and Melbourne, 1886-1896, (Newcastle, 1986);
Australian Standard, 7 Sept 1889; Australian Journalists' Association, Copy, 1 Dec 1913; Worker
(Brisbane), 2 Sept 1893; Sydney Moming Herald, 13 June 1923; Yewen papers (Narrabeen
Community Learning Centre). More on the resources
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X
leisure theme z A
>
3 X
COMMENTS REFERENCES

Many additions and alterations.
Garden underdeveloped

MAP/PHOTO Yl




Appendix 6

Sands Directories of 1904 & 1906



g Co., Ltd.

=3 I
ILINGS,

- Metal Glazing,
- Showers,
R

in Zinc, Brass,

'E.

dfern Works.
qd.

T FREE.

ROOFING TILES.

heap as Corrugated Iron.
uso Terra Cotta Ridging
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ard Willlam G., 457 Dow!ing ut
Yardley Harry, 63 Wilson st, Bodfern
Yardsiey R., Inkerwan st, Meorsfield -
Yarlett W, foreman Imperial Naval
Depdt and Magaxines,
Spectacle Island
Yarnold Rev. A. (0. of E.) 60 Alt st. A'fleld
Yarnton Obarles E., Angele st, Burwood
Yarnion G. W,, 6 Carlton ores, Sum. Hill
Yarnton Mrs. 8., 1 Holhorrow st, Croydon
Yarragh Mra. ., Brow: st, St. Peters
Yarrington A., Douglas st, Petersham
Yarrington Arthur A., 4 Chapman st
Yarrington Rev. W. H., M.A., LL.B. (0.
of E.), Whart rd, Concord
Yarroll D, 455 Oxford st, Paadington
Yarroll John, off Harrow rd, Aubnrn
Yarroll W., 36 Maria st, Marrickville
Yarrow and Co., grocers, 337 Parramatta
rd, Leichhardt
Yarrow S. A., Ocean st, Kogarah
Yarrow Wallace, Bayview st, Bexley
Yarwood Mrs. E. L., postmistress, Culloden
rd, Marsfield
Yarwood F. N., F.SILA, accountans,
auditor, Imp. cham., 18 O’Connell st
Yasuda Tomokichi, Palser st, Woolwich
Yateman G., George st, Granville
Yates A, & Oo., seed merch., 184 Sussex st
Yates Amos, Eden st, North Sydney
Yates Arthur, ) Liverpool ry, Ashfield
Yates Arthur, Shaftesbury rd, Burwood
Yates Arthur, 29 Hoddle st, Paddiugton

. Yates Arthur, 4 Ormond st, Paddington

Yates Arthur, 24 Walter st, Paddineton
Yates Mra B., Unwin’s Bridge rd, M'ville
Yates B, High st, Willoughby

Yates C. W., 28 Durham st, South An’dale
Yates Charles, 8t. Panl's st, Randwick
Yates Danici, Pennant st, Parramatta
Yates Mrs. E. M., 6 Burfitt st, Leichhardt
Yatef Edwin H., 140 Bridge rd, Glebe
Yates Ernest, Edinburgh rd, Marrickville
Yates F., Tllawz*- + rd, Marrickville

Yates Frank, Durn. 2 st, Marrickville
Yates Frederick, 29 Louisa rd, Balmain
Yates George, 53 George st, Redfern
Tates George, 69 Castlereagh st, Redfern
Yates George A., 150 Dowling st

Yates H. 8., New York st, Granville
Yates Mrs. 1., Wentworth st, Petersham
Yates Mra. J., Phillip st, Parralastta
Yates James, 1 Iris st, Paddington

Yates James, 15 Newman at, Newtown
Yates James, Cardigan st, Petersham
Yates Jane, 58 Westmoreland st, F. Lodge
Yates Mre. Jane, Alfred st, Marr.ckville
Yates John, 457 Miller st, North Sydney
Yates John, Harris st, Parramatta

Yates John, 88 Queen st, Woollahra

Yates John T., Brir.nton st, Bnfield

Yates Joseph, 22 “ipewell at. Padidinotan

S ey v OOUG Ly 1 DM PCT S0, NeWLOWN

Yeatman E., Duck st, Granville

Yedwoph Emanuel, tailor, 105 Regent st,
Redfern ; p.r., 297 Oleveland st, Ifern

Yeend Albert R., 112 Ocean ot, Bondi

Yeend James, 2 Caroline 8t, Balmain

Yeend Eichard, 11 Little's ave, Balmain

Yeend Mrs. S,, 204 Frazer st, Dulwich Hill

Yeghi Robert, 40 Brougham st

Yeldham Bros, procuce merchants, 73
Elizabeth-st, Redfern '

Yeldham A. E., 39 Birrell st, Waverley

Yeldham G, H.,W histler 8t, Manly

Yeldham George, 649 Bourke st

Yeldham William, 107 Bourke st, R’fern

Yeldon Arthur, 27 Willon st

Yeldon R. T., Oxford st, Hurstville

Yelland G., 18 Maleolm st, Erskineville

Yelland H., 37 Charles st, Petersham

Yelland J. M., 338 Stanmore rd, M’ville

Yeo J.and W., bakers, Herbert st, Sum, Hill

Yeo A, 455 Canterbury New rd, P’sham

Yeo Albert, 7) Cowper st, Glebe

Yeo Beri, *¢ Scarboo,” Cantor st, Croydon

Yeo Charles H., CanterburyNew rd, Dul-
wich Hill

Yeo George, Robert st, Burwood

Yeo James, 34 Marian st, Newtown

Yeo John, 14 O Canterbary rd, Sum. Hill

Teo M., butcher, Herbert st, Summer Hill

Yeo M,, 16 Old Canterbury rc, Sum. Hill

Yeo R., 455 Canterburr New rd, P'sham

Yeo Richard, 99 Ourtis rd, Balmain

Yeo W., 12 Old Canterbury rd, Sum. Hill

Yeoman Mrs, F. M., 317 Alfred st, N. Syd

Yeomans G., 17 Fitzroy st, Alexandria

Yeomans Allen, grazier, 305 Edgecliffe
rd, Woollahra

Yeomans Arthar, 184 West st N. Sydney

Yeomans K. C., » Burton st, Camperdown

Yeomans Mrs. B. J., Norfolk horel, 207
Cleveland st, Redfern

Yecwans George, 3 off Albert pl

Yeomans George, Oamera et, Manly

Yeomans H., 8 Durham st, 3. Annandale

Yeomans Mrs. John, Wallis st, Woollahra

Yeomans R. J., solicitor, 53 Hrnter st

Yeomans R. J., Nook ave, North S, Ley

Yeomans Richard, solicitor, §3 Hunter st ;
p.r., Ocean st, Woollahra

Yeomans Samuel, 72 Botany st, Redfern

Yerbery Alfred, 181 Regent st, Redfern

Yetman G., South st, Granville

Yetman W. H., Carey st, Randwiok

Yewen Publishing 0. (The)—A. G.Yewen,
editor; 0. E. Eglese, manager, 13
Spring st

Yewen A, G,, elitor, The Yewen Publish-
ing Go, 12 Spring st 5 D.r., Bbadforth
at, Mosman

Yooge A., honse agent, 8 0'Jonnell 8t, Syd.

Yonge Arthur K. D., J.P.. Fhillin st (Traed

15104

York Thomas, 87 Union st, Newtown
York W. @., Arthur st, Marrickvilie .
York W.T.,35 Campbell st, North Sydney
York Whalter, Bruoe st, Catlton ¥
York William, 102 Mort st, Balmain
York Willlam, 68 Boronia st, Redfern
York William, 52 Lander st, Redfern
Yorke Joun R.J.P., Cooper st, Paddington
Yrrke Miss M, A, Railway par, Kogarrh
York Mrs, Osrrond, head misttess St.

Paul's (C. of. B.) SBchool, Oleveland st

YORKSHIRE FIRE AND LIFE
INSURANCE CO., / William H.
Rowsell, manager, 10 O’Connell st

Yost T'ypewriter —United Typewriter and
Supplies Co., sole agents for Australia,
114 Pitt st

Youdale J., Military rd, Mosman

YOUDALE JOHN B., Insurance
Agent, City Agent for Austmlian
Mutual Provident Society, 108 Pitt st ;
p.r., “ Coni ‘ton,” Bishop st, Burwooxd,
Telcphone 2178

Youdan Thos., Caledonian 8¢, Bexley

Youl 0. J., Princes 8t, Ny»th Syduey

Youll J. T., master Public School, Seaview
st, Dulwich Hill

Youll Willinm, Railway st, Rockdale

YOUNG AUSTHALIA — Migs Fothering-
hame, editress, 76 Pitt st

Young Bros.,, pictureframe makers, 387
Elizabeth st

Young Misses E. and A., school, Gibbes st,
Rockdale

YOUNG FOLES’ TEMPERANCE ADVOCATE,
—Thos. Ed wards, propr.etor, 35 Castle-
reagh st

Young G. E.and Co., auctioneers, 314 Dar-
ling st, Balmain

Yonug H. and Co., watchmakers, 524 Geo. st

Yo .2 J. C. and Co., stock and station
agents, 4 O'Counell st

Young J. H. and Co,, Litd., shearing eon-
tractors, 8 Spring st )

Young Men’s Christian Assoviation—John
J. Virgo, secretary, 329 Pitt, st

Young Peoples’ Scripture Union (The), 73
The Strand

Young S. and Oo., furniture maxers, 91
Goulburn st

YOUNG SIDNEY H. & c0,,

Hairdressers a.d Tobacconists. Hot
ths, 87 Oastlereagh at, Bydney,

Tel. 2830
Young Women’s Ohristian Association—
Central Institute, Governesses’ agency,

servants’ registry, rest and lnacheon
roocms for hnrineas oivla  Ceenoeao-
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Marmiokvitle, 9T PGS T Yellana Mre. . 18 Maleohn st Ee ville Youdan T
Marrickville Yelland J. M. J.P., 338 Stanmore rd, Youl Cecil
Yates B, High st, Willoughby Marrickville ¥

Yatea Mrs. € 10 (" own nl
Yates Charles, St. Paul's st, Randwick
Yates Daniel, Pennant st, Parramatta

Yen, Bert, Cantor st Croydon -
Yeo C. H,, L‘.anlerbﬁr}' New rd, Dul. Hiil Youll Joh

Lelephone 2174

hos., Caledonian 8i, Bexley
vdne:
voull J. T., Dulwich Hill Public Sche |,

J., 28 Princes st, N. S

Seaview st, Dulwich Hill
n, Durham st, Marrickvil'»

> i Youll William. Amderson s | Clinrsw . -
Yates E., Edinburgh rd, Marrickville %g‘?ﬁ?ﬁ ;.3 ?;I‘f::ﬁ‘lﬁlr: S‘L’ &"}5‘?2&]\‘1 "YOUNG  AUSTRALIA newspaper— M:;s
Yates Edward & View st Auna dale [ Yeo J"ol';n ﬁerbért st Q‘u.m Hill i Fnthcringhame, editress, 78 Pitt -t
Yates Edwin H., 140 Bridge rd, Glebe {¥eo John' 14 O) Car'u;rbu-ry rd, Sum-, Young Bros., pictureframers, 37 Eliza-
Yates Ernest, 8 Selwyn st mer Hill i ! ! beth st
Yates F., Illavarra rd, Marrickville . - Young and (o, butchers, Slade st,
Yates Frank, 116 Gloucester st Yeo M., Herbert st, Summer Hil Naremburn

Yates Frank, Durham st, Marrickville | Y€o M‘., 16 Old Canterbury rd. Summer
Yates Fredk., 29 Louisa rd, Balmain . Hill . .
Yates ceorge, 59 Castlereagh st, Redfern| Yeo Richard, 99 Curtis rd, Balmain
Yates George A., 12 Best st { Yeo Richarid, };I‘c'rhpr[ st »lef111r3cr H\i'“S .
Yutes Mrs. H. M., #1 Lamb st Leichhardt R:ec“m‘" s, F. M. 317 dlired st, X, Sya.
Yates H. 8., New York st, Granville soman G, 17 Fitzroy st, Alexs :
Yates Mrs. I Wentworth st Petarsham*ywmans Allan, grazier, 305 Ldgechﬂei
Yates J., grocer, George st, Parramatta rd, Woollahra ‘Young M
Yates James, 2 Newman st, Newlown

Yates James 15 Newman st, Newtown
Yat 8 James, Hopewell lane, Paddington
Yates Mrs, James, Phillip st, P'matta
Yates James 47 Ahercrombie st, Redfern

i Castle

Yeomans Geurge, Camera st, Manly
Yeomans H., 20 Durham st, South Anp.|
nandale |

J. G.

Yeomans R. J., solicitor, 53 Hunter st |

Yorsa FoLKS TEMPE
L Thomas Edwards,

John J. Virgo

reagh st

4’s  Christian

RANCE ADYVOCATE,
proprietor, 35
Young J. C. and Co., stock and station

agents, 4 O'Connell st
‘Young J, H. and Co., Ltd,, shearing con-
tractos, 8 Spring st
Association—-
,» general secretary ;

Mitchell, assistant secretary,

. | 320 Pitt st
Yeomans Mrs. John, Wallis st, Wooll'ra Young People’s Scri

73 The Strand

pture Union (Thei,

Yates Jane, 58 Westmoreland st, Forest| L20mans R. J., 17 Nook ave, N. Sydney Young Sidney H. and Co., hairdressers

Yeomans Richard, solicitor, 53 Hunter
st: p.r, Ocean st, Woollahra

¥ | Yeomans Mrs. Rose,

Cieveland st, Redfein l

Yeomans Samuel, 72 Botany st, Redfern|

Yerbury Alfred, 181 Regent st, Redfern!

Lodge
Yates John, 84 Chandos st, North Sydue.
Yates John, Harris st, Parramatta
Yates John, 88 Queen st, Wo lahra
Yates John T., Brighton st, E. deld
Yates Joseph, 22 Hopewell st, Pad’'ton

and

Centra

tobacconists ;
Castlereagh st.

1 Institute

hot baths, ¢7
i Telephone 2830

Norfolk hotel, 207! Young Women's Christian Association —
Governesses’
agency, servants’ registry, rest and

luncheon rooms for business giris.

Yotman W. H,, Carey st, Randwick | Strangers welcomed and directed to
Yates Josepl, 31 Morehend st, Redfern Yowen Publishing Co. (The)—a4. G.J safe and comfortable lodgings. Mi-s
Yates Mrs, Lucy. Chureh st, le{rammta Yewen, editor; J. Gellatly, man-| S. . Heard, general secretarr,
Yates R., 137 Holterman st, North Syd ager, 12 Spring st | 161-163 Castlereagh st. Tel. 3564
Yates Mrs. Rachael, 33 Kepos st, R'fern|yewen A G., editor, The Yewen Pub-

Yates Robert W, police station, Hut-
chinson st, Granville
Yates Sidney, 10 Little Buckingham st
Yates T., 24 Swanson st, Erskineville
Yates Thomas, 17 Trade st, Newtown
Ysates Thomas, Albjon st, Parramatta
Yates Wm,, 90 Wellington st, Newtown
Yates William, Thomas st, Parramatta
Yates William, 60 Weston rd, Rozelle
Yates W. H_, J.P., 15 Bennett st, Bondi
Yatman GGeorge, Queen at. Granville

lishing Co.,
Newport
Yonkerman, Derk P. and Co, Ltd.. Tuber-

12 Spring st p.r,|

Yook Mrs. Rose, Adelaide st, Woollahra|
York H. H. and Co.,
agents amd importers, 56 Market st

a

York C., 25 Little Walker st, N. Sydney| Young A. &
York C. H., 74 Julliett st. Marrickville” | Young Mrs.

| Young Women's Christian Association

Girle’ Clnb, 312 Botany rd. Alex'ndri

| Young Zoo (The)—F. C. Janson and Ce,

proprietors, 206 George st

culozyne Consnmption Cure, 64 Pitt st | Yourhlg A., R. D. 5., dentist, Myahgsah rd,
03m

n

manufacturers | Young A., 134 Missenden rd, Cany’down

JYoung A., Mi Mi st, Hurstville
York Mrs, Anne, 13 Charles st, Newtown| Young A. A., Illawarra rd, Marrickville
- 52 Lavender st, N. sydney

A. C.. Raglan st, Mosman

Yaw Mrs. M., 75  Abercrombie st, R'fern|YOTk Charles, 10 Little buckingham st Young A. E., Seymour st, Enfleld

York Chas. H.. May st, Marrickvilie
YEAGER W. AND E.. B(wman st, | York Frank, 58 Thornley st, Leichhanlt}Young Mrs.
Pyrmont. Fruit, Wine, and Spirit| York George, Gladstono st, Kogarah
Cases Butter Roxes, o,

Printed. Tel, 1244 York Henry, 70 Derwent st, F. Lodge

Young A. H., 31 Albion

A. V., Mills st, Carlton

| Young Adam A. 0., 18 Alma st, N. Syd.
» Machine|York Mrs. H. T., 143 Bourke st |Ynung‘ Mrs. Agnes, Beresford rd, Strathf'd
t
i

Young Alan B., Church st, Burwood

st, Paddingten

WO0O0D & COMPANY : JHE FUNERAL DIRECTORS OF N.S.W.: SYDNEY. (

Head Office : 810-2 Geor,
Btreet Bouth. 'Phone {;)

Soreemo o aetied, 1L DPPAN ST
Young Charles, 20 Wilson st
Young Chas., William st, North
Ynung Chas, 91 Crystal st, Pet:
Young Chas.,, Oberon st, Randw
Young Chas., Wentworth st, Ru
Y.ung Chas. G., Dick st, Henley
Young Chas. 1., 22 Harrington st
Young Chas. M., J P Wyuna rd
inung Christopher R., Avoca st
Young D. W. 98 Mount at, Noos»
Young D.W, Armatrong st, Wil
Young David, 287 Nelson st. Ann
Yooing David. off Androw =t. Mew
Y:mg David, Bestic st, Rockdal
Young David K., Bellevue st, Ko

Yeung Mrs. E., 47 Margaret st, |

Young Mrs. E. AL, 33 Rowe st
Young E. C., 235 Cleveland st, Re-
Young E. H., stationer, 162 Princ.

E. H., Railway st, Wost Kog:
B J manager of telegraph-,
o:t Office, Georye st
ug E. T., Belmore rd, Coogee
Young E. W, 62 Crystal st, Peter-
Young Edgar, 21 Allen st
Young Edgar, 13 Norfolk st, Padn
Young Edmond J., Beaconsfield
Bexley
‘J;n:ug Edward J., 1 Hill st. North 8
Youug Edwin G., 15 Barcom ave
Yo s Enoch, Rawson st, North Bot.
Youics Ernest, Carshalton st. Ashfel.,
Youn: r, grocer. Military rd. Mosn);
Youn: ¥, "Emu st, Barwood
Y,mw, F. 41 Shepherd s8, Marrickvil
Youns Mrs, F., 70 Burlington st, N
Sydney
‘-:m.m; F. 126 Military rd, North Sy
Young F. J., 8t. George's par, Hurst
Young F. 3.7, station representat, -\
Pite st
}'oung W, Violet st. Chatswood
Young F. w. 182 Paddington st. Pad’
l‘oung Fredk., 18 Batty st, Rozelle
Young Fredk. C., Lane Cove rd, Pyn
}_nuug Frederick J.. 54 Myrtle st
‘zvolng G., 232 Oxford st, Woollahrz
oung G. K., I.P, returning officer
. Darvall st, B'main
Young G. E., 314 Darling st, Balmai:
Young @, F., Carlotta 8t, Greenwici
Young G, H., 100 Shepherd st, M’'vii
. 0., 107 Darlington rd, D’
Young G, P., 277 Henderson rd, Alex’

) I
W00D & COMPANY : TOWN




Appendix 7

Alfred Yewen’s Obituary SMH 1923



f u %{lll ,hl ;etiramdn
:t.oq place, eatoﬁm}r
.Jot! Engla.nd ‘gecti

By the death’ of Mr. Mn-ed Gregory Yewe
o | which  ‘oceurred , at. .his 'iresidence, .Eungnn
| |Head,; Newport, ‘early on. Monday

)n
a notable conwl‘ﬁlﬁzor
b

B

¢
he Personal influenca of
men’ ae Willlam Mbrris,’ Géorg:
Bernard’ Shqm 4dd Walter Crane; znd on n‘%
- |rival here beplaced his services at the:d
osal -of the ultra-democratic party. . The

day, but as it existed for. many years prior
to the war—was then iIn its lnﬂeption. and
Mr, Yewen, as ‘writer and “platform  speaker,
took no smal] part in the etirring wevents
through which the hopes of Democracy werg
transterred from trades unionism of the old-
tashioned . order and hitched to the “charidt |
wheel of a Parliamentary Labour
wasg ‘itself then ‘non-existent. . - : ]

Among ‘his most Intimate assoclates lt. thut
time wera :the. Right Hon.: W. /M. Hughes,

‘Mr.” Thomag Routlur. now ‘a member. of ‘the
Board 'of -~ Tradé. “Yewefr, ‘to -i‘whom

|sented ‘the “extremist " aettion of ‘this. coterie.’
:He rather typified, In'fact, “the gentle anar-
chist'’,of fiction. . ~But he had landed nenni-
less, and ‘with the rembant of a lung’ - 'And

o

‘{gencles;of: journaultid ‘}ife, . to which
1utm'flnced by the  kindness, of-, ‘Dr.
threw him iato fresh ourunu of Tactivity,”
took 4 more. optimistic “view "of . thirg!
general.’ P:n‘hl.blr “.the" ' ‘fatt ~that :he:

year “making good' In the ladd. of his,
tion; pup]rlfed the‘ mnst. unanswerable "ar;
ment ‘of all.
igot his own heazd above water; aund What !ni
| dustry-and: perfeverance -couid 'do’ for-bim hé
began to think .that they might da° foti others.
But, Gregory Yewen.
Ho never "went #low.”. In’the direst days b
caldmity  and bitted Wwhen {he “could
little Tn ‘the "rorra bouit - hifn “but 7 exanmp
of “flendlsh  “expro, he m ‘no tl
for laty: people. = T ERCL

St

jI-l

Labour movsment—hnrdly 28 1t is known. to- |’

Mr.. W.. A. Holman, K.C.y Judge ‘Beeby, and |

1hnIt-’mensure; never »‘Were congantM, .-repre‘-' !
“sunshine’ ‘of - Auntralia i

Wi {
Wnr&.

‘apité “of 'Karl' Marx ‘he bad [’

a8 & worker . a.lway'i L




44 wuv DIU QRYE 08 seemeq quite ‘Mucapable of

ment, was very much allve to the mysteries of
art snd science,” As & young man.he lost no
oppagtunity ‘of " self” improvement. .Off- to
work ay & i

&t’the feet of ‘Huxléy and Tyndal.® He-llked
the monumental thinge in. art:and literature,
Throughout: life he. ‘read ltile current: fiction,
But .the picturesque on’ & grand .scale » in
nature, -in' musig or on canvas, never failed :in
| thelr appeal, .. It was Beethoven and ‘Wagner,

Sbakespeatre, Dumas, and -Leighton, who won

MRS

and held his admiration.. e '3

In recent years, though ever an interested
spectator and often a keep and ecaustie eritie,
{| Mr. Yewen.took no-public pert in matters
{political and economic.. Whatever his views
| might -have ‘heen. on the prospects ‘of revolu-
tionary change, at all events- he kept them
to himself, Most likely, having parted with

the . superstructure of~his ‘earlier creed had
sprung, ‘he: buift no more castles, in the alr.
But taking' . things ‘mora or' less’ as. he found
them and genuinely ‘disappointed in the trend
of the Labour movement in  Australia, * he
Iocussed hig- at{ention upon the work he had
in hand, and strangely enough when one comes
to think. of it that had dlmost exclusively to
do with the ‘primary, ‘broducts_of .the country,
especiully with 'sheép and' cattle, upon mnny
Bspects of which he became in time. an . auth-
oriLy of comparatively bigh "standing. - -

Tears ago, when still a poqgr man, he bought
land ' at. Newport, and’ there, on. a . great
promontory, unfolding an. intérminable view
of ‘codetline, he buili—the first portion of it
by hias own unaided’ labour—a stone cottage.
'|Hls family were living at the time at Mosmean,
|{and from there he would journey on & “push-~
bike" over week-ends to ths scene of his
future home: Somettmes a whole Baturday
and Sunday would be occupied by the ghifting
of & single huge stone. His friends sald that
be muat have the heart of a llon. . Still, Httle
by little, hindered sometimes by sickness,

D S S

and eventually starting with an engle in the
walls of hig sitting-room, he lald the founda-

Jtitent -veraidan obab OB, €3
sive’ and “beautiful' to. be obtalned: from any
7|beadland’ on' the coast of New South Wales.
The house grew in size ‘as the purss. of. my
friefid expanded. ~Room was added to Tooni,
“|2nd .now, -though it is still a residence, only
one storey high, many fiights of atalrs have
beeén found necessary to chase the new ad-
fditions up end. down ‘the hill; . Such as it is,
this unique creation, bullt,” at least in part,
by this remarkeble man 'with the remnant of
8 ‘lung, will out-westher ‘the worst storm that
bustles: up. the' cokst in the next hundred

i

S 3

© Mr.. Yewen's litérary experlonce covered
some’ thirty years' of Australian journalism,
“land, though latterly~he had' perforce con-
. finedl hig nitention’ to questions affecting the
‘Lpastoral Industry, during the earlier portion
jof his career it was ‘unusually. diverse.: He
r { Queensland: “‘Boomerang;!’ for, two years ' or
more. he iub-edited the Brisbane “Worker,"
jand subrequently—this was after & period of
|eaclusion’ (and doubtless; reflection) ' during

»With “two' ll-assorted  mates, ‘one 5.3
inarchist, who was Irritablé ang bad-témpered,
1d the other a Communist,” who was' hopa-
lessly Iezy—he sub-edited’ the : * tock  and
Station’ Journal”' Later on, in conjunction
{with the late Dr. Gellatly, he founded 2 short-
lived but hizh-clni!‘p‘erlodlc%l ‘known as “The

hres A's" (All About Australia), and, from
that he drifted into daily jotrmalism, bécom-
i {10z a valued member of the reporting’ staff of
,{tbe’ “Sydney Morning. Herald,™' .+ i
/i or fourteen years in tlis capacity he at-

jHe made many. friends. amongst ‘both buyers
§ {and gellers, ' “Indeed, his knowledge of the
; {trade, ‘noless than hid' integrity, won the
;[admiration of all’with whom he came in eon-
fiact, © Later—until his health precluded the
I Posslbility  of  regular lterary: work—Mr,
Yewen wrote the weekly‘wdol article for this
urnal. . He-also’ contributed extensively to
Dalgety’s Revlew,” and for many FeaTE 'Was
-responsgible for the contents of the encycloa-
paedic annual published by that firm for
he' information .of the whole wide world on
matters - relatin th oral inferests of

L

EB¢elng “the  other "side’ of an ‘economlo argu- |-

Ok By & toi¥ <t La0n. ﬁw-ﬂiﬂﬁﬁ&
1o the morning, the: evenings'often found him |

#0 many fundamental - principles from which |

sometimes by foul weather, he pegged away, |
living rock of an old quarry for the first two|.

tions-of a.houseithat was destined to be as
|rusged externally, and internally as hospitable
i llﬂﬁ,“i owner. 'h ame: - sittihg-ro by
§ ed:
i larly

‘{'asgisted the  late™ QGresley - Lukin® o Jthe.

|‘which, he shated "a  strange’ menage An: the |,

ded the fat stock sales at Homebush, where
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